IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EMMITT PAIGE, SR., INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CHERRYL PAIGE, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.

MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

HONORABLE WILLIAM F. COLEMAN CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 407 EAST PASCAGOULA STREET JACKSON, MS 39201

Statement of the Issues:

- I. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING PLAINTIFFS RIGHT TO DISCOVERY OF DEFENDANTS MBMC'S CORPORATE BY-LAWS, MEDICAL STAFF BY-LAW AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHARTS
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING THE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S CARDIOVASCULAR SURGERY EXPERT AND THE REPORT OF DR. CALVIN RAMSEY EN ROUTE TO GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY
 JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition By Court Below

This medical negligence and wrongful death action was filed on March 4, 2005 by Emmitt Paige, Sr., individually and on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Cherryl Paige against Dr. William Harris, the Mississippi Baptist Medical Center (Baptist) and John Does 1 through 5 (R. 13). On October 15, 2007, Baptist moved for summary judgment (R. 292) and on October 30, 2007, Plaintiff responded to Baptist's motion for summary judgment. (R. 823). On November 29, 2007 the trial court granted Baptist's motion for summary judgment. (R. 124-44). Plaintiff requested reconsideration of the order granting Baptist's summary judgment and on January 9, 2008, the Court denied Plaintiff's request for reconsideration of its order granting Baptist's summary judgment motion. (R.1334). On February 6, 2008 Plaintiff filed his Notice Of Appeal to this Court. (R. 1338).

B. <u>Statement Of Facts</u>

On February 16, 2004, Plaintiff's decent, Cherryl Paige, age 44, presented to the Baptist Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi for the purpose of undergoing aortic valve replacement surgery. During the course of the surgery, Cherryl Paige's liver was lacerated by Dr. William Harris, who performed the surgery. The lacerations to the liver were not diagnosed for a period of forty (40) minutes or more at which time, Dr. Harris conducted exploratory abdominal surgery. By this time, Cherryl Paige had bled to death while under the care of Dr. Harris at the Baptist Medical Center. (R. 15-16-18). Plaintiff filed suit against Dr. Harris and Baptist Medical Center on March 4, 2005, alleging medical negligence against Dr.

Harris and Baptist Medical Center. More specifically, Plaintiff alleged that Baptist Medical Center owed Cherryl Paige a duty to provide competent physicians and surgical staff to perform cardiovascular surgery, a duty to have sufficient staff in the Cardiovascular Recovery Unit to properly monitor patients, post aortic valve replacement surgery and a duty to exercise reasonable care in the hiring, retaining, supervising and monitoring the work of Dr. Harris and thehis surgical staff. (R. 17).

Plaintiff further alleged that Cherryl Paige's death was proximately caused by the negligence of Dr. Harris and Baptist Medical Center. (R. 17-18). After Baptist Medical Center answered the complaint denying any liability and asserting the affirmative defenses that Dr. Harris was not an agent employee of Baptist and that the care and treatment of Cherryl Paige met or exceeded the applicable standard of care, (R. 22-23), the parties undertook discovery.

In an effort to ascertain the true nature of the relationship between Dr. Harris and Baptist and to determine whether Baptist properly investigated and credentialed Dr. Harris, properly monitored surgeries he performed at Baptist and provided the necessary support staff, Plaintiff submitted various discovery requests to Baptist, including interrogatories and requests for production of documents. Baptist refused to produce any of the documents requested that would reveal the nature and extent of its relationship with Dr. Harris, including any investigation conducted into the events surrounding the untimely death of Cherryl Paige.

Baptist initially refused to even produce a copy of its corporate by-laws and medical staff by-laws on the alleged grounds that these documents were not relevant to any issue raised in the lawsuit and the requests were made merely for the purpose to annoy and harass.

(R. 173-174). The same objections were made to Plaintiff's request for copies of the competency assessment records of the nurses and doctors who participated in the treatment of Cherryl Paige on February 16, 2004. (R. 175-176). Baptist even refused to produce a copy of its organizational chart on the grounds that the request was not relevant and for the reasons that the request was "unduly overbroad, vague, ambiguous, burdensome and oppressive". (R. 174).

After unsuccessfully attempting to resolve this discovery dispute regarding the requested documents, Plaintiff filed a motion to compel Baptist to respond to his legitimate discovery requests. (R. 173-177, 198-203).

Following a hearing on Plaintiff's Motion To Compel held on August 10, 2008, the trial court ordered Baptist to produce its corporate and medical staff by-laws to the Court for incamera inspection by August 17, 2007 for a determination by the Court of whether said by-laws contain any information relevant to any issue contained in the complaint. The Court also ordered Baptist to provide to Plaintiff the results of competency assessments of Dr. William Harris and the results of any Peer Review Investigation regarding the death of Cherryl Paige. (R. 219). The Court's order further provided that the Court "may revisit the question of the relevancy of discovery of competency assessments of Baptist nurses and/or Dr. Barry Aden should Plaintiff raise a substantial claim of negligence on the part of particular individual nurses and/or Dr. Aden which proximately caused or contributed to the death of Mrs. Paige, and support such claims with a report from a qualified expert witness". (R. 220).

After its in-camera review of Baptist's corporate and medical staff by-laws and

organizational chart, the Court issued a Supplemental order regarding Plaintiff's Motion To Compel Discovery on September 24, 2007.

In this supplemental order, the Court compelled Baptist to produce to Plaintiff selected portions of its corporate and medical staff by-laws and organizational chart. The documents in redacted form were ordered produced within ten (10) days with the un-redacted copies of the documents reviewed by the Court in-camera to be filed under seal by the circuit clerk. (R. 222-223). Thus, Plaintiff was never permitted to review the complete corporate and medical staff by-laws and Baptist never produced the results of competency assessments of Dr. Harris or the results of any Peer Review Investigation regarding the death of Cherryl Paige as ordered by the Court on August 28, 2007. (R. 219-220).

Shortly thereafter, on October 15, 2007, Baptist moved for summary judgment and Dr. Harris moved to exclude the testimony of Dr. Calvin Ramsey, one of Plaintiff's designated experts. Baptist joined in Dr. Harris' motion to exclude Dr. Ramsey's testimony. The Court granted Dr. Harris' motion to exclude Dr. Calvin Ramsey's testimony "based on Dr. Ramsey's lack of education; experience or training in the speciality of surgery which is at issue in this medical malpractice case." (R. 1304). The Court reasoned that Dr. Ramsey's speciality is internal medicine and Dr. Harris is a thoracic surgeon and that the treatment provided by Baptist's staff was in the context of surgery under Dr. Harris' orders. (R.1304). The Court therefore effectively shielded all Baptist staff from liability simply because they were working under Dr. Harris' orders irrespective of whether they were negligent or competent.

A copy of Dr. Ramsey's expert report which was before the Court, clearly revealed that Dr. Ramsey did not purport to offer any testimony regarding the standard of care for

cardiovascular surgery as stated by the Court. (R.1304). Rather, Dr. Ramsey's report clearly detailed his education, training and experience (R. 1307-08) and stated that Baptist staff violated the standard of care in several areas and that Dr. Harris violated the applicable standard of care regarding informed consent which had nothing to do with the performance of the aortic value replacement surgery. Dr. Ramsey's Report stated that both Dr. Harris and Baptist breached the standard of care "by not paying careful attention to pre-operative data that had the potential to destabilize Mrs. Paige's surgery" (R. 1311). Dr. Harris and Baptist violated the standard of care by allowing Cherryl Paige to undergo open heart surgery without the benefit of an updated chest x-ray or updated hematological data. Id. The nursing staff and the surgical charge nurse in particular, violated the standard of care by failing to document in the record a preoperative physical assessment regarding the cardio-pulmonary findings on the day of surgery. The nursing staff failed to call Dr. Harris' attention to the abnormalities on the chest x-ray and Dr. Harris testified in his deposition that he depended on the nurses to report abnormal findings to him. Id. Additionally, Dr. Ramsey stated that Dr. Harris committed a serious breach of the standard of care by not having the records reflect that he was present when Mrs. Paige signed her informed consent form for him to perform cardiac surgery. (R. 1310-11). Dr. Ramsey further stated that Baptist violated the standard of care by permitting Dr. Harris and Dr. Aden to place the TEE probe because neither had the requisite training and credentials to place the TEE probe which is an invasive procedure and which exposed Cherryl Paige to the unnecessary risk of esophageal perforations and lacerations. All of these opinions by Dr. Ramsey were stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty as required by the precedents of this Court. (R. 131-13).

Plaintiff requested the Court to reconsider its order excluding Dr. Ramsey's testimony, but the request was denied. (R. 1298-1303). Plaintiff moved to exclude the testimony of three of Dr. Harris' expert witnesses, Dr. Reginald Martin, Dr. Michael Hughson and Dr. Barry Aden because they did not possess "the education experience or training in the speciality of surgery which is at issue in this medical malpractice action." The Court refused to apply the same rationale used to exclude Dr. Ramsey's testimony and denied Plaintiff's motion to exclude Dr. Harris' and Baptist's experts who did not possess the education, experience and training in cardiovascular surgery. (R. 1317).

After Baptist moved for summary judgment on October 15, 2007, Plaintiff submitted the supplemental report of his cardiovascular surgery expert, Dr. Charles Bridges which stated, among other things detailed how Baptist violated the standard of care in its treatment and care of Cherryl Paige. Baptist promptly moved to strike this supplemental report of Dr. Bridges as untimely because it was submitted on November 1, 2007, in violation of Rule 4.04 (a) of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court, Rule 26(F) (1) (B) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil procedure and after the deadline set by the Court for completion of expert related discovery. (R. 1033-1036). The Court granted Baptist's motion to exclude Dr. Bridges supplemental report as untimely (R. 1151), but denied Plaintiff's motion to strike the supplemental expert designations of Baptist and Dr. Harris which were also submitted beyond the deadline designated by the Court for completion of all expert related discovery. (R. 1271).

Moreover, the trial court severely restricted Plaintiff's discovery requests to Baptist after Baptist had initially refused to answer any of Plaintiff's discovery requests. Following a hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Baptist to respond to Plaintiff's discovery requests, the trial court ordered Baptist to produce to Plaintiff "to the extent that it has not already done so" the following documents: (1) job descriptions for all its employees who were directly involved in the care of Cherryl Paige, (2) the result of competency assessments of Dr. William Harris, M.D. (3) the results of any Peer Review Investigation regarding the death of Cherryl Paige. (R. 219). The competency assessment of Dr. Harris and the results of any Peer Review Investigation regarding the death of Cherryl Paige were never produced by Baptist.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court employs a de nova standard when reviewing the trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment. *Moss v. Batesville Casket Co.*, 935 So. 2d 393, 398 (¶ 15)(Miss. 2006). Decisions made by the trial court regarding discovery are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Prime Rx, LLC v. McKendree, Inc.*, 917 So. 2d 791. 794 (¶ 7)(Miss. 2005).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly and unduly restricted the efforts of Plaintiff to obtain discovery from Baptist Medical Center in this medical negligence case and then granted summary judgment in favor of Baptist. The Complaint alleged that Baptist was negligent in failing to provide competent staff in the care and treatment of Cherryl Paige which resulted in her death following aortic value replacement surgery. In order to ascertain the true relationship between the surgeon and Baptist and the competency of the Baptist staff who assisted in the surgery, Plaintiff propounded discovery requests to Baptist which Baptist refused to answer.

Following a hearing on Plaintiff's motion to compel on the eve of trial, the trial court

ordered Baptist to produce to Plaintiff such basic information as its corporate and medical bylaws and part of its organizational chart, but refused to allow Plaintiff access to the complete corporate and medical by-laws to which he was entitled. This severely hampered Plaintiff in obtaining an expert in the field of hospital administration.

The trial court also improperly excluded the testimony of one of Plaintiff's medical experts on the ground that he was not a thoracic surgeon and ignored those portions of his report that had nothing to do with thoracic surgery but focused on the negligence of Baptist. On the other hand, the trial court permitted the testimony of Baptist's experts who were not thoracic surgeons and relied upon their testimony to grant summary judgment. The court abused its discretion regarding discovery issues by consistently restricting Plaintiff's discovery and refusing to apply the same rationale to Plaintiff's and Defendants' pre-trial motions even when the motions otherwise sought identical relief based upon identical reasons. Even so, the record contains sufficient issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING PLAINTIFFS RIGHT TO DISCOVERY OF DEFENDANTS MBMC'S CORPORATE BY LAWS, MEDICAL; STAFF BY-LAW AND ORGANIZATIONAL CHARTS.

In this case the Baptist committed gross violations of the discovery rules by producing documents to Plaintiff nearly two (2) years after the said discovery had been propounded and then only after the Circuit Court entered an order compelling Baptist to produce the requested documents. See *Ekornes - Duncan v. Rankin Med. Ctr.* 808 So. 2d 955 (Miss. 2002).

The purpose of the discovery rules is to prevent trial by ambush. Ambush is more likely in a malpractice action against a member of a profession, since as here, a lawyer is dealing with unfamiliar territory. Because of this, courts should allow an attorney ample time prior to trial to receive the names of experts and to discover meaningful information as to what their testimony will be. *Nichols v. Tubb* 609 So. 2d 377 (Miss. 1992).

A. The trial court abused its discretion when it limited the Plaintiffs rights to discovery of certain documents requested from the Defendant MBMC be produced to the Court in camera.

In his supplemental order regarding Plaintiffs motion to compel discovery. Judge DeLaughter comes to the conclusion that "the cause before the court is Plaintiffs motion to compel certain discovery from Defendant MBMC. Further, subsequent to the in camera inspection of certain documents Judge DeLaughter opined "that some of the documents should be produced to the Plaintiff, under protective order, due to their sensitive nature. Discovery in this case was ongoing and the deadline for providing expert disclosures had expired on September 7, 2007. Plaintiff had put the court on notice in its motion to extend the expert discovery deadline that Plaintiff needed the information, namely, the MBMC corporate by-laws medical staff by-laws and MBMC's organizational chart, that the court was considering in camera, to decide whether or not Plaintiff needed to hire a hospital administrator expert. The Court entered an order granting Plaintiff motion extending the time to name experts, but it did not enter its supplemental until September 24, 2007. See R. 221-23 and in that order the court allowed the defendant MBMC, 10 days from the 24th day of September 2007, to make the productions to Plaintiffs in a redacted form. This clearly deprived the Plaintiff of the opportunity to consider hiring the hospital administrator expert.

On November 29, 2007, less than 30 days laterJudge DeLaughter granted the Defendant MBMC's motion for summary judgment against Plaintiff on grounds that Plaintiffs did not produce admissible evidence from a competent expert that defendant MBMC was negligent. (See R. 1243-44 and the transcript of the hearing on Plaintiffs motion to compel pp. 70-72). The Plaintiff obviously had insufficient time to submit the redacted documents to a competent hospital administrator and to get an opinion before the court granted the Defendant MBMC's motion for summary judgment. It is the Plaintiffs contention that under the totality of the circumstance an objective reasonable person, when considering the court's ruling on Plaintiffs Motion to compel discovery as expressed in the transcript of the hearing at pp 69-72, and when one reviews the court's ruling, in camera inspection of discovery, as well as the Circuit Judge's Order to strike the supplemental report of Dr. Charles Bridges on the same day the court granted Defendant MBMC's motion for summary judgment for lack of an expert opinion coupled with the Court's decision to exclude the testimony and report of Dr. Calvin Ramsey in route to the grant of defendant's summary judgement, leads an reasonable person to conclude that Judge Delaughter abused his discretion on his rulings in discovery matters and the trial judge was partial towards defendant MBMC which deprived Plaintiff of his right to his day in Court. against defendant MBMC for their negligence in treating and caring for his wife proximately causing and or contribution to her untimely death. Hathcock v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Ins., 912 So. 2d 847 (Miss. 2005); Dodson v. Singing River Hosp. Sys., 839 So. 2d. 530, 534 (Miss. 203); Collins v. Josh, 611 So. 2d 898; 903 (Miss. 1992). Therefore Plaintiff prays that this Court reverses the trial court's order granting defendant MBMC's summary judgement and remand this cause to the Circuit Court of Hinds County to be heard on the merits.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING THE SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S CARDIOVASCULAR SURGERY EXPERT AND THE REPORT OF DR. CALVIN RAMSEY EN ROUTE TO GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER

The trial court set a deadline of September 7, 2007 for the completion of all expert related discovery. Transcripts of Hearing on Motion to Extended Discovery deadline pp. 73-74. On November 1, 2007, Plaintiff's Cardiovascular surgery expert, Dr. Charles Bridges, submitted a supplemental report after reviewing additional records. Dr. Bridges supplemental report detailed the negligence of Baptist's staff in care and treatment of Cherryl Paige, but was excluded by the Court as being untimely.

Baptist filed a Motion to strike the Supplemental expert report of Plaintiffs Cardiovascular Surgeon Dr. Charles Bridges which Plaintiff submitted and served on Baptist in response to Baptist Motion for Summary Judgement on November 1, 2007.

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