IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00328

EMMITT PAIGE, SR.	PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT
V	
MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST MEDICAL CENTER, INC.	DEFENDANT-APPELLEE
CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPR	ELLEE
Appealed From The Circuit Court of The Firs of Hinds County, Mississippi Cause No: 2	t Judicial District 51-05-193CIV

D. COLLIER GRAHAM, JR., ESQ.
WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY
401 EAST CAPITOL STREET, SUITE 600
POST OFFICE BOX 651
JACKSON, MS 39205-0651

JACKSON, MS 39205-0651 TELEPHONE: (601) 968-5549

TELECOPIER: (601) 944-7738

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00328

EMMITT PAIGE, SR.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

V

Statement of Issue
Statement of the Case
Underlying Undisputed Material Facts
B. Pre-Surgery Tests, Information and Informed Consent Properly Obtained by Dr. Harris
C. The AVR Surgery
D. Post-Op Recovery in the CVSRU
E. Dr. Harris Orders Mrs. Paige Back to the Operating Room
Summary of the Argument
Argument Introduction 1 Plaintiff's Challenge of Circuit Court's Discovery Ruling 2 The Exclusion of Dr. Calvin Ramsey as an Expert Witness 3 The Exclusion of Expert Testimony From Charles Bridges on Matters that were Untimely Disclosed 4. Summary Judgment in Favor of MBMC on all Claims Raised by Plaintiff's Complaint was Proper 32-42
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Bickham v. Grant, 861 So.2d 299, 300 (Miss. 2003)
Bowie v. Monfort Jones Memorial Hospital, 861 So.2d 1037, 1041-43, (Miss. 2003) 30
Brown v. Baptist Memorial Hospital DeSoto, Inc., 806 So.2d 1131, 1134 (Miss. 2002)33
Bullock v. Lott, 964 So.2d 1119, 1129-1134 (Miss. 2007)
Busby v. Mazzeo, 929 So.2d 369, 372-73 (Miss. App. 2006)
<u>Cf. Spinosu v. Weinstein</u> , 168 A.D.2d 32, 40 (N.Y. App. Div. 1991)
Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc., 908 So.2d 117, 120 (Miss. 2005) 25, 28, 29
<u>Cole v. Wiggins</u> , 487 So.2d 203, 205 (Miss. 1986)
<u>Collins v. Joshi</u> , 611 So.2d 898, 903 (Miss. 1992)
<u>Coral Drilling Inc. v. Bishop</u> , 260 So.2d 463 (Miss. 1972)
Cossitt v. Alfa Ins. Co., 726 So.2d 132, 135 (Miss. 1998)
Deiorio v. Pensacola Health Trust, 990 So.2d 804 (Miss. App. 2008)
<u>Dodson v. Singing River Hosp. Sys.</u> , 839 So.2d 530, 534 (Miss. 2003)
Ekornes-Duncan v. Rankin Medical Center, 808 So.2d 955 (Miss. 2002
Ford Motor Company v. Tennin, 960 So.2d 379-393 (Miss. 2007
<u>Griffin v. Pinson</u> , 952 So.2d 963, 966-67 (Miss. App. 2007)
<u>Hall v. Warden</u> , 796 So.2d 271, 281 (Miss. App. 2001)
<u>Hardy v. Brantley</u> , 471 So.2d 358, 369 (Miss. 1985)
Harnish v. Children's Hosp. Med. Ctr., 439 N.E.2d 240, 245 (Mass. 1982)
<u>Hartel v. Pruett</u> , So.2d, 2008 WL 4879223 (Miss., Nov. 13, 2008)
Hathcock v. Southern Farm Bureau Cas. Inc., 912 So.2d 847 (Miss. 2005)
<u>Hewes v. Langston</u> , 853 So.2d 1237, 1250 (Miss. 2003)
Holland v. Mayfield, 826 So.2d 664, 663 (Miss. 1999)
<u>Hubbard v. Wansley</u> , 954 So.2d 951, 957-958 (Miss. 2007)
<u>Jamison v. Kilgore</u> , 903 So.2d 45, 47 (Miss. 2005)

Kent v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Miss. Inc., 853 So.2d 873 (Miss. App. 2003) 33
Miss. United Methodist Conference v. Brown, 911 So.2d 478, 481-82 (Miss. 2000)
Morton v. City of Shelby, 984 So.2d 323, 329 (Miss. App. 2007)
<u>Nichols v. Tubb</u> , 609 So.2d 377 (Miss. 1992)
<u>Oakwood Homes Corp. v. Randall</u> , 824 So.2d 1292, 1293-94 (Miss. 2002)
<u>Poole ex rel. Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005)</u>
<u>Pratt v. Sessums</u> , 989 So.2d 308, 309-10 (Miss. 2008)
Roberts v. Colson, 729 So.2d 1242 (Miss. 1999)
<u>Shelton v. Kindred</u> , 279 So.2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1973)
Smith v. Gilmore Memorial Hospital, 952 So.2d 177, 190 (Miss. 2007)
<u>Trapp v. Cayson</u> , 471 So.2d 375 (Miss. 1985)
<u>Troupe v. McAvley</u> , 955 So.2d 848, 856-858 (Miss. 2007)
<u>United American Ins. Co. v. Merrill</u> , 978 So.2d 613 (Miss. 2007)
<u>University of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Pounders</u> , 970 So.2d 141 (Miss. 2007)
University Medical Center v. Martin, So.2d, 2008 WL 4879165 (decided November 13, 2008)
<u>Walker v. Skiwski</u> , 529 So.2d 184, 186 (Miss. 1988)
Whittington v. Mason, 905 So.2d 1261, 1264-66 (Miss. 2005)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Page
Rule 10(b)(4), Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure
Rule 54(b), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure
Rule 56(d), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure
Rule 56(e), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure
Rule 56(f), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure
Rule 702, <u>Mississippi Rules of Evidence</u>
Rule 4.04(a), Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Courts

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

Defendant/Appellee, Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, Inc. (MBMC) objects to the Plaintiff/Appellant raising on appeal the issue of whether the circuit court abused its discretion in limiting discovery as to MBMC's corporate by-laws, medical staff bylaws and organization chart, as such proposed issue was not properly raised or preserved for appellate review. Moreover, such proposed issue was not raised by Plaintiff/Appellant pursuant to Rule 10(b)(4), Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure in designating the Record on Appeal (R.1347-1348), and Plaintiff/Appellant failed to include in the record the documents reviewed by the circuit court that were the subject of the discovery ruling. Therefore, MBMC respectfully moves the court to disregard the first issue raised by Plaintiff/Appellant herein.

Otherwise, MBMC re-states the issues properly raised as follows:

- 1. Whether the circuit court abused its sound discretion in excluding expert testimony from Calvin Ramsey, M.D. on the subject matter of the standard of care applicable to surgical and recovery nurses and hospital personnel in the context of a cardiovascular surgery patient where plaintiff failed to demonstrate that Dr. Ramsey had any expertise in that field.
- 2. Whether the circuit court abused its discretion in excluding expert testimony from Dr. Charles Bridges that was untimely disclosed by plaintiff.
- 3. Whether entry of summary judgment in favor of MBMC was appropriate on the record of undisputed material facts presented to the circuit court.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The statement of the case included in Brief of Appellant is inaccurate and incomplete. Therefore, MBMC sets forth below the course of proceedings and the facts relevant to the issues presented for review.

A. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The instant case involves the claim of medical malpractice against MBMC for the alleged wrongful death of plaintiff's decedent, Cheryl Paige, closely following Aortic Valve Replacement (AVR) cardiovascular surgery performed by Dr. William Harris at MBMC on or about February 16,

2004. The plaintiff filed a complaint against Dr. Harris and MBMC on or about March 4, 2005, and alleged that Dr. Harris inadvertently lacerated Mrs. Paige's liver during cardiovascular surgery to replace her diseased aortic heart valve; that this liver injury was not timely diagnosed and treated; and that as a consequence Mrs. Paige bled to death approximately two hours following the end of the AVR surgery (See Complaint ¶¶ 1, 5 & 7; R. 13-20).

The specific claims against MBMC were that (1) it was vicariously liable for the alleged malpractice of Dr. Harris (See Complaint ¶3; R.13-20); (2) it was liable for the alleged negligence of the hospital's cardiovascular surgical nurses; cardiovascular perfusionist and cardiovascular surgery recovery nurses in their care and treatment of Mrs. Paige (See Complaint ¶¶4 & 8; R. 13-20); and (3) it was liable for alleged negligence in allowing Dr. Harris to have staff privileges to practice cardiovascular and thoracic surgery at MBMC (See Complaint ¶¶3, 4, & 8; R. 13-20). After issue was joined an initial scheduling order was entered on or about November 10, 2005 which set a trial date of December 11, 2006, set the deadline for plaintiff to designate expert witnesses by March 15, 2006, set the deadline for defendants to designate expert witnesses by April 15, 2006 and cut-off discovery on June 30, 2006 (R. 25-26). By order dated April 10, 2006, the deadline for plaintiff to make expert witness disclosures was extended to April 15, 2006 (R. 30). On April 17, 2006 the plaintiff made expert witness disclosures. Plaintiff identified Dr. Calvin Ramsey, an internal medicine primary care physician from Lexington, Mississippi who was expected to testify that Mrs. Paige died "because of gross negligence and recklessness on the part of Dr. William Harris and others, including the medical staff at Baptist Hospital, the nurses, the surgical technicians and the Anesthesiologist"; that Dr. Harris was "negligent in causing lacerations to Mrs. Paige's liver and hepatic portal vein during the AVR surgery"; that Dr. Harris, "the Anesthesiologist" and "(MBMC's) staff Surgical Technicians, Surgical Assistants and Nurses assigned to care for Mrs. Paige were all negligent for failure to realize that Mrs. Paige was in serious trouble because of the tremendous drop in her blood pressure, particularly during the heart bypass, during the cardiac surgery and immediately following the surgery". Plaintiff's disclosure noted that Dr. Ramsey's opinions were based on his review of the medical records and "his knowledge, training, education and experience as a practicing internist" (emphasis added). (R.34-35).

Plaintiff also identified as an expert witness Jo Ann Latham, a Nurse Practitioner, who was expected to testify that a "substantial drop in blood pressure should have been a 'red flag' that Mrs. Paige was in serious trouble" and that the nursing staff attending Mrs. Paige following surgery failed to properly monitor Mrs. Paige and summon the appropriate assistance in a timely manner. (R. 35-36). Plaintiff's April 17, 2006 expert disclosure also identified Dr. Charles Bridges as an expert in cardiovascular surgery. However, the disclosure for Dr. Bridges significantly does not include any opinions that any MBMC nurses or other hospital personnel violated the standard of care applicable to them in their care and treatment of Mrs. Paige (R. 33-34).

Thereafter, by the agreement of the parties the plaintiff was allowed until June 23, 2006 to notify the defendants whether he intended to make any supplemental expert witness disclosures. (R. 214-215). Pursuant to the agreement when plaintiff chose not to make any further expert disclosures, MBMC's expert disclosures were due on July 18, 2006. On that date MBMC timely made its expert witness disclosures identifying among others Mary Berlin, R.N./Certified Cardiovascular Perfusionist at the University of Mississippi Medical Center and David McGiffin, M.D., Professor and Chairman of the Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery Department at the University of Alabama at Birmingham Medical Center. MBMC's expert designation provided detailed disclosures of each expert's extensive background, knowledge, training and experience in their respective fields of cardiovascular surgery and nursing care/cardiovascular perfusion during cardiovascular surgery and recovery immediately after surgery. The designation also provided detailed disclosures of the experts' respective opinions that the MBMC surgical and recovery nurses, as well as the cardiovascular perfusionist and other surgery technicians, in every respect met and/or exceeded the standard of care applicable to them in their care and treatment of Mrs. Paige. Additionally, as to the plaintiff's unsubstantiated allegation in the complaint that Dr. Harris was not competent to perform AVR surgery and that MBMC was negligent in granting his surgical privileges, the designation disclosed that was Dr. McGiffin's personally familiarity with Dr. Harris being extremely well qualified to perform cardiovascular surgery because Dr. McGiffin was involved in Dr. Harris' training in that field, and indeed, Dr. McGiffin had recommended to MBMC that Dr. Harris be granted cardiovascular surgery privileges. (R. 85-145).



By agreement of the parties the circuit court entered an amended scheduling order on November 8, 2006 re-setting the case for trial on December 3, 2007 and extending the deadline for discovery to March 15, 2007. (R. 171-172). At plaintiff's request the circuit court entered an order on April 10, 2007 further extending the discovery deadline through July 30, 2007. However, the trial date of December 3, 2007 remained unchanged. (R. 218). During the extended discovery period that stretched over two years time MBMC made available for deposition every one of its employees who were directly involved in the care and treatment of Mrs. Paige. The plaintiff deposed all the nurses and the cardiovascular perfusionist who were involved in the caring for Mrs. Paige during cardiovascular surgery and in the cardiovascular surgery recovery unit. (R. 207). Plaintiff took the deposition of Dr. Harris, Dr. Barry Aden (the private practice anesthesiologist who Dr. Harris selected to participate in the AVR surgery) (R. 415, 414) and Dr. Michael Koury, a private practice general surgeon who Dr. Harris selected to assist him during a second surgery to try and save Mrs. Paige's life. (R. 207) MBMC responded to two sets of interrogatories, four sets of requests for production, two sets of requests for admissions and four subpoenas seeking documents. (Id.) MBMC provided complete substantive responses to every discovery request that sought information relevant to the claims actually raised in the complaint. MBMC objected to producing its corporate by-laws, medical staff by-laws and organizational chart as not being relevant to any issue raised by the complaint. Plaintiff sought to compel production of these documents, and brought its motion to compel on for hearing on August 10, 2007. (R. 173-203, 204-217; R. Vol. 11, p. 1-71). At the hearing the court ruled from the Bench that by August 17, 20007 MBMC should produce for in camera inspection by the court MBMC's corporate and medical staff by-laws, as well as an organizational chart to allow the court to determine

A cardiovascular perfusionist is an employee of MBMC who is responsible for operating the <u>heart-lung bypass</u> machine during cardiovascular surgery such as the AVR surgery performed on Mrs. Paige by Dr. Harris (R. 537-539).

That is, whether Dr. Harris was negligent in his performance of the subject aortic valve replacement or in his post-operative care of Mrs. Paige; whether Dr. Harris was an employee of or under contract to MBMC; whether any nurse or other MBMC personnel were negligent in caring for Mrs. Paige; and whether MBMC was negligent in hiring Dr. Harris or supervising his surgical practice. (See Complaint; R. 13-20).

whether such documents contain any information relevant to any issue raised by the complaint. (R. Vol. 11, p. 50-54). MBMC timely complied with the court's order. After reviewing the documents the circuit court entered a supplemental order finding that specified sections of the Corporate By-laws, Medical Staff By-laws, and organizational chart be produced. (R. 221-223). MBMC timely complied with the court's order.⁴

At the August 10, 2007 hearing, the circuit court granted plaintiff one final extension of the discovery deadline - until September 7, 2007 - for the express purpose of providing final expert witness supplemental disclosures. (R. Vol. 11, p. 68-69). Plaintiff took advantage of this opportunity to provide a supplemental disclosure of Dr. Bridges' expected expert testimony. However, the September 7, 2007 supplemental disclosure for Dr. Bridges, like the original April 17, 2006 disclosure for him, does not mention any opinion that any MBMC nurse or other hospital personnel failed to meet the standard of care applicable to them in their care and treatment of Mrs. Paige. Rather, the September 7, 2007 supplemental expert disclosure for Dr. Bridges is exclusively directed at Dr. Harris, and sets out Dr. Bridges' opinion that Dr. Harris violated the standard of care by allegedly lacerating Mrs. Paige's liver during the AVR surgery when he inserted a French Drain, and by Dr. Harris' failure thereafter to timely diagnose and treat the allegedly resulting intra-abdominal hemorrhage. (R. 953-959, R. 1000-1007, R. 1034).

From plaintiff's discovery disclosures it was readily apparent that Dr. Ramsey was not remotely qualified under Rule 702, <u>Mississippi Rules of Evidence</u> to give expert opinion testimony as to the standard of care applicable to the cardiovascular surgeon, cardiovascular surgical nurses, cardiovascular perfusionist and cardiovascular surgery recovery nurses whose care and treatment were at issue in this case. (R. 34-35, 73-79). Dr. Ramsey is an internist, whose practice has always been

The court entered a written order on August 28, 2007 which incorporated its oral ruling from the Bench. (R. 219-220). The written order omits reference to the organizational chart, but that document was submitted by MBMC as well to the court for <u>in camera</u> inspection. (R. 221-223).

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